Wapp

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

VEB 10 1993

GLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
By—Ch	lef Deputy C	lerk

JAMES BYRON GOODSON, Petitioner,))		
v.)	S. CT. CASE NO.	81,051
STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent,)) _)		

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A
QUESTION CERTIFIED TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC
IMPORTANCE BY THE
THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

SOPHIA B. EHRINGER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 0938130
112-A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
Phone: 904-252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, JAMES BYRON GOODSON, was charged by amended information with one count of burglary of a structure with a battery therein, a first degree felony punishable by life in violation of Florida Statutes § 810.02(1), and § 810.02(2) (1990), and two counts of sexual battery, second degree felonies in violation of Florida Statutes § 794.011(5) (1990) (R452, 453). The charged offenses were alleged to have occurred on October 11, 1990 in Seminole County (R452, 453). After a jury trial held on May 7th and 8th, 1991, before the Honorable Newman D. Brock, Petitioner was convicted of all three counts as charged in the information (R315, 316, 506-508).

The State filed a timely notice of its intent to seek enhanced punishment as a habitual offender on June 19, 1991 (R515). Petitioner's sentencing hearing was held on July 26, 1991, before the Honorable Newman D. Brock (R336-446). In an

The original information charged only one count of sexual battery, and the amended information, not included in the record on appeal, included two counts of sexual battery.

attempt to establish Petitioner's status as a habitual offender, the State introduced the following certified copies of judgments and sentences: a judgment filed September 23, 1982, reflecting an Oklahoma conviction of "first degree rape" (R600-604); a judgment filed July 26, 1976, reflecting a Florida conviction of burglary of a dwelling (R605).

The State also introduced a copy of a Florida judgment in case number 90-3152 entered on May 3, 1991, for offenses which had allegedly occurred on October 10, 1990 (R606). The judgment for these offenses, however, had been entered after the date of the offense in the instant case, numbered 90-3292, and was the subject of an appeal in the Fifth District Court of Appeal, district court case number 91-1915 (R606-607).

Based on these convictions, Petitioner was found to be a habitual offender pursuant to Florida Statutes § 775.084 (1990) (R540). As to count one, Petitioner was sentenced to life imprisonment as a habitual offender, and as to counts two and three, the trial court sentenced Appellant to two thirty year terms of incarceration as a habitual offender, to run concurrent with the sentence imposed in count one (R537-541).

Petitioner appealed the imposition of this sentence to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, arguing that his classification as a habitual offender was in error. The basis for this argument was that Chapter 89-280, Laws of Florida, amending \$ 775.084, was violative of the single subject rule of the Florida Constitution. Art. III, § 6, Fla. Const. (1968).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the sentence, and certified the following question as being of great public importance:

WHETHER THE CHAPTER 89-280 AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 775.084(1)(A)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), WERE UNCONSTITUTIONAL PRIOR TO THEIR REENACTMENT AS PART OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES, BECAUSE THEY WERE IN VIOLATION OF THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

Goodson v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2708 (Fla. 5th Dec. 4, 1992) (Appendix A).

The same question was certified by the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), by Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Gilmore v. State</u>, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D986 (Fla. 4th DCA Apr. 15, 1992), and by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Butler v. State</u>, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D1460 (Fla. 5th DCA June 12, 1992).

This Court answered the certified question in the affirmative in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S55 (Jan 14, 1993) (Appendix B), and in <u>Bulter v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S79 (Fla. Jan 21, 1993) (Appendix C), finding that Chapter 89-280, Laws of Florida, was violative of article III, section 6, of the Florida Constitution.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As this Court held in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S55 (Fla. Jan. 14, 1993), Chapter 89-280, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, violates the one subject rule of the Florida State Constitution. The law in Chapter 89-280 embraces two subjects. These subjects are the habitual felony offender and the repossession of motor vehicles. The amendment to the habitual offender statute was specifically applied to Petitioner's case, as Petitioner could not have been classified as a habitual offender but for the amendment to Section 775.084 contained in Chapter 89-280. Petitioner requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the affirmative, vacate his sentence, and remand for resentencing within the guidelines.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE CHAPTER 89-280 AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 775.084(1)(A)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), WERE UNCONSTITUTIONAL PRIOR TO THEIR REENACTMENT AS PART OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES, BECAUSE THEY WERE IN VIOLATION OF THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

The trial court erred in sentencing Petitioner as a habitual offender. The habitual offender statute, § 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989), as amended and applied to Petitioner's sentence and classification as a habitual offender, is violative of the one subject rule of the Florida Constitution. Art. III, § 6, Fla. Const. (1968); Ch. 89-280, § 12, Laws of Fla. Petitioner's offenses occurred on October 11, 1990, after the October 1, 1989 effective date of Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989), Chapter 89-280, Laws of Florida, and prior to May 2, 1991, the effective date of Chapter 91-44, Laws of Florida, which reenacted the 1989 amendments to Florida Statutes.

In particular, the section of the habitual offender statute concerning the use of out of state convictions in establishing a defendant as a habitual offender was amended in Chapter 89-280, § 1, Laws on Florida. Section 775.084(1)(a)1, was amended in part as follows:

(1) As used in this act:

- (a) "Habitual felony offender" means a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if it finds that:
- 1. The defendant has previously been convicted of <u>any combination of</u> two or more felonies in this state <u>or other qualified</u>

offenses;

Chapter 89-280, § 1, Laws of Florida. The "other qualified offenses" were thereafter defined in the amendment to include out-of-state convictions. Prior to this amendment, only Florida convictions could be considered. Importantly, this change was specifically applied to Petitioner's case, as the State relied on evidence of one prior Oklahoma conviction from 1982, and one remote judgment from Florida, entered in 1976, in moving to have Petitioner classified as a habitual offender. Petitioner was released from prison in Florida on December 7, 1989, after being convicted of the felony case in Oklahoma while on parole from Florida (R390, 391, 396-398).

Although the State introduced evidence of a Florida felony conviction in case number 90-3152, this prior judgment was not determinative in finding Petitioner to be a habitual offender. This judgment, apparently filed May 3, 1991, could not have been considered in ascertaining whether Petitioner was to be classified as a habitual offender. It was not even clear whether Petitioner had yet been sentenced in this case. The convictions in case number 90-3152 were entered after the offense date in the instant case, and were not final as they were the subject of an appeal at the time of sentencing (R606-607). Convictions entered after the offense date for which a defendant is being sentenced cannot be considered in determining whether a defendant qualifies as a habitual offender. § 775.084, Fla. Stat. (1990); See Brooks v. State, 578 So. 2d 893 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (habitual offender

sentence reversed where crimes for which defendant currently being sentenced occurred prior to the simultaneous convictions used to support the habitual offender classification); Palmore V. State, 584 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (habitual offender sentence reversed where the offenses for which the defendant was sentenced occurred before the date of the convictions upon which the lower court relied as "prior convictions"); Furthermore, the conviction must be final in order to be considered as a requisite conviction for imposing a habitual offender sentence. See Martin V. State, 592 So. 2d 1219 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (a conviction must be final before it can be constitute a "prior conviction" for purposes of the habitual offender statute; conviction subject to appeal could not be considered). Frazier v. State, 452 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Petitioner could therefore not have qualified as a habitual offender prior to the effective date of this amendment to the habitual offender statute, as the offenses used in this classification were from a 1976 Florida conviction, and a 1982 Oklahoma conviction, for which Petitioner was released from

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 584 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), <u>rev. denied</u>, 595 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1992), held that Florida Statutes § 775.084(1)(b)(1) (Supp. 1988), "does not preclude a conviction occurring after the conviction for which defendant is being habitualized from providing such a basis if, as here, the prior conviction occurred before the defendant's sentencing for the offense for which he is being habitualized." <u>Smith</u>, 584 So. 2d at 1108. The decision in <u>Smith</u>, however, concerning an interpretation of the habitual <u>violent</u> felony offender statute, as opposed to the instant case, and the cases cited herein, which dealt with the habitual felony offender statute.

prison in Florida in 1989.

Just as this court held in Johnson v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S55 (Fla. Jan. 14, 1993), Chapter 89-280, Laws of Florida clearly embraces more than one subject through its coverage of both the habitual offender statute and repossession requirements, and is in violation of Article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution. The subjects included in the act "are simply to dissimilar and lack the logical and rational relationship to the legislature's stated purpose [of an act relating to criminal law and procedure] ... to pass constitutional muster." Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167, 1172 (Fla. 1991). Accordingly, this court answered the same question certified in the instant case in Johnson, supra, and the ruling in Johnson controls in the case sub judice. Petitioner's offense date fell after the effective date of Chapter 89-280, Laws of Florida, of October 1, 1989, and prior to the statute's reenactment in Chapter 91-44, Laws of Florida, on May 2, 1991. Furthermore, the unconstitutional amendment to the habitual offender statute was specifically applied to Petitioner's case, in allowing Petitioner to be "habitualized" through the use of an out-of-state conviction.

Petitioner requests that this Honorable Court answer the question certified in the instant case in the affirmative, based on this Court's ruling in <u>Johnson</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Butler</u>, <u>supra</u>.

CONCLUSION

BASED ON the argument contained herein, and authorities cited in support thereof, Petitioner requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the affirmative, vacate Petitioner's sentence, and remand this cause for resentencing within the guidelines.