017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE 3 AV

NAR 8 1993

SLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES B. GOODSON, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,051

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A QUESTION CERTIFIED TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #397024
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent agrees with petitioner's statement of the case and facts with the following additions.

Petitioner appeared before the court at sentencing for two cases consolidated on one scoresheet, lower court case numbers 90-3152 and 90-3292. (R 680-685). Goodson was found to be an habitual offender in both cases. The first case charged one count of burglary with an assault, and three counts of sexual The court imposed life on count one and three batterv. concurrent thirty year sentences on the remaining three counts in case. Consecutive to these four sentences were sentences imposed in case number 90-3292. The charges were the same-burglary with an assault and two counts of sexual battery. The trial court imposed incarceration for life for count one, and concurrent thirty year sentences on the remaining counts. sentences for case number 90-3292 were consecutive to the sentences imposed in 90-3152 (R 680-685; 812-819).

The offenses charged in 90-3152 occurred on October 1, 1989. The crimes in the other case occurred on October 11, 1990.

The sentencing guidelines scoresheet totaled 639 points. (R 820, 662). This corresponded to a recommended guidelines sanction of life in prison.

Both the trial and sentencing occurred after May 2, 1991, the effective date of the statute reenacting 89-280, Laws of Florida.

 $^{^{1}}$ (R) refers to the record on appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent agrees that the certified question presented in this case was recently resolved in <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S55 (Jan. 14, 1993). Between October 1, 1989 and May 2, 1991, the amendments to the habitual offender act embodied in 89-280 were ineffective as violative of the single subject rule. However, the sentence imposed in this case should nevertheless be affirmed for several reasons.

Goodson is not entitled to benefit of the <u>Johnson</u> decision because he was sentenced <u>after</u> the effective date of the statute reenacting the offending section of the habitual offender act. Indeed, the trial in this case was after May 2, 1991. The sentencing in this case on July 26, 1991 was after the "window" closed. Even if <u>Johnson</u> is applicable to the cases before the court in this appeal, any error is harmless. Goodson has one prior felony conviction in Florida and two prior felony convictions outside of Florida. Either set of convictions for which Goodson was being sentenced are qualified offenses for the other set of convictions. In other words, the convictions in 90-3152 can serve as the second qualified Florida offense for the 90-3292 case. This renders harmless the use of out of state convictions to impose enhanced sentences.

Another reason why error was harmless in this case is because the recommended sentence under the guidelines is life. A sentence of incarceration for natural life under the guidelines is not less than an habitual offender life sentence with consecutive terms of years. Incarceration for life is just that; barring reincarnation, further sentences are superfluous.

Although the question certified to this court has been answered, this sentence should still be affirmed as Goodson was sentenced after the reenactment of the 1989 amendment to the habitual offender act and so is not entitled to benefit of the Johnson case.

ARGUMENT

EVEN THOUGH THE CERTIFIED QUESTION HAS BEEN ANSWERED THIS SENTENCE SHOULD BE AFFIRMED. THE SENTENCING IN THIS CASE OCCURRED AFTER THE REENACTMENT OF THE 1989 AMENDMENT TO THE HABITUAL OFFENDER ACT.

The district court's decision below certified to this court the following question:

WHETHER THE CHAPTER 89-280 AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 775.084(1)(A)1, FLORIDA STATUTES, (1989), WERE UNCONSTITUTIONAL PRIOR TO THEIR REENACTMENT AS PART OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES, BECAUSE THEY WERE IN VIOLATION OF THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

This Court answered this question in the affirmative in State v. Johnson, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S55 (Fla. January 14, 1993). This court held that persons sentenced between October 1, 1989 and May 2, 1991 have standing to assert this challenge. Persons adversely affected by the amendments are entitled to resentencing.

Goodson is not entitled to benefit of the <u>Johnson</u> decision because he was sentenced on July 26, 1991, after the reenactment of the offending statute. The "window period" closed before Goodson's trial began. This court predicated Johnson's standing on the fact that he was sentenced during the window period.

Johnson was <u>sentenced</u> before the reenactment of Chapter 89-280 and during the window period in which that chapter was subject to attack as being violative of the constitution's single subject requirement. The window period in this instance ran from October 1, 1989, the effective date of chapter 89-280, to May 2, 1991, the date on which chapter 89-280 was reenacted. Consequently,

Johnson had standing ... <u>Id</u>. at 56. (emphasis added).

Goodson was sentenced after the reenactment of the statute and hence has no standing to raise this issue.

Assuming for sake of argument that Goodson has standing, no reversible error is presented. An habitual offender sentence was properly imposed in both sets of cases.

The state notes that one of the cases for which an habitual offender sentence was imposed was committed on October 1, 1989, hours after the amendments in Chapter 89-280 became effective. Even without reliance upon the Oklahoma convictions, the state contends that an enhanced sentence could nevertheless be imposed using the undisputed prior Florida conviction and the convictions in 90-3292. See Smith v. State, 584 So. 2d 1107 (2nd DCA, 1991), rev. denied, 595 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1991).

Petitioner may argue that qualified offenses must precede those offenses they enhance. He may suggest that the offenses which occurred on October 11, 1990 cannot be used to enhance a sentence for crimes occurring October 1, 1989. The underlying purpose of the habitual offender act is to prevent recividism. However, this court has approved enhanced sentences where both prior convictions were entered on the same day. State v. Barnes, 595 So. 2d (Fla. 1992). Moreover, "prior convictions" for the aggravating factor in the capitol sentencing statute includes crimes committed temporally after the capital murder, so long as the judgments of conviction is entered prior to the sentencing for the capital felony. See Pardo v. State, 563 So. 2d 77 (1990). By analogy, the same reasoning applies in this instance.

Goodson may also respond that the only sentence before this court is that imposed in 90-3292.² The cases were undoubtedly consolidated for sentencing as they were both pending before the court. The cases were consolidated on appeal and one record prepared. The appellant then moved to sever, but permitted the cases to travel together with one record. The other case, 90-3152, continued separately, and resulted in a per curiam: affirmed decision. The state submits that the two cases are intertwined and cannot be viewed in isolation, even though they parted paths just before reaching their destination.

Even if Goodson is correct that crimes committed in 1990 cannot enhance sentences for crimes committed in 1989 due to the underlying purpose of the habitual offender act, the reverse is Namely, the 1989 crimes embodied in 90-3152 can be not true. used to enhance the sentence for crimes committed on October 11, 1990, as charged in 90-3292. Smith v. State, supra. See Therefore, even without relying on the Oklahoma convictions, the second set of cases before the court for sentencing can be used as qualified offenses for enhanced sentence under the habitual offender act. Any error in using the Oklahoma convictions is harmless given the fact that there are several Florida convictions which may be used as qualified offenses.

Another reason why any error is harmless is that either way he is sentenced, Goodson will spend his life in prison. In Johnson, the habitual offender sentence was twenty-five years,

If this argument prevails, then the habitual offender sentence in 90-3152 is completely unaffected by the decision in this case as it is not before this Court.

while the maximum guidelines sentence was three and one half years. Clearly, this affected Johnson's liberty interest. However, Goodson's prior record amasses a total of 639 points, which corresponds to a recommended guidelines sanction of incarceration for natural life. The habitual offender life sentence has a consecutive thirty year term of incarceration. To find the enhanced sentence to be greater, this court must find that a guidelines sentence of natural life, without parole, is less than habitual offender life plus thirty years. The state suggests that as to Goodson, no "fundamental 'liberty' due process interests" are implicated. State v. Johnson, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S56.

Even though this court found that the certified question presented here should be answered in the affirmative, the sentence in this case should nevertheless be affirmed. The state established below that Goodson had one prior Florida felony conviction and two prior Oklahoma felony convictions. Goodson was before the court for sentencing in two separate cases, each involving a burglary and several counts of sexual battery. Goodson is not entitled to benefit of the Johnson decision for several reasons. First, he was sentenced after the window period closed. His July, 1991 sentencing was subsequent to the reenactment of Chapter 89-280. Therefore, he lacks standing to raise this claim. Second, he cannot demonstrate that he is adversely affected by the amendment because the additional qualifying offense can be the convictions for burglary or sexual battery in case 90-3152 which occurred prior to the offenses in 90-3292. (R 607). Any error is harmless for this reason. The sentences imposed should be affirmed in all respects.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and authorities, respondent respectfully requests this honorable court to find that the certified question has been answered affirmatively, but find that the facts of this case are distinguishable and affirm in all respects.